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To Lorraine

You are the best part of any adventure






COUNTDOWN: 116 DAYS


April 12, 1945

Washington, D.C.

Harry Truman needed a drink. It was his eighty-second day as vice president. And as usual, he spent the afternoon in the Senate chamber, this time overseeing a debate about a water treaty with Mexico. As senators droned on, his mind wandered to his mother and sister, who still lived near the old Truman family farm back in Grandview, Missouri. Truman pulled out some paper and a pen, even though he was seated at his elevated desk on the rostrum in the Senate chamber.

“Dear Mamma and Mary,” he wrote, “a windy Senator from Wisconsin” was going on and on about “a subject with which he is in no way familiar.” It was part of Truman’s job as president of the Senate to officiate over sessions like this. But he couldn’t wait for it to end. There was someplace else he wanted to be. He had no idea his life was about to change forever.

Now, just before 5:00 p.m., the Senate mercifully recessed for the day. Truman started walking across the Capitol by himself, without his Secret Service detail—through the Senate side, across the Capitol Rotunda, then Statuary Hall, and onto the House side. Dressed smartly as usual, in a double-breasted gray suit, with a white handkerchief and a dark polka-dot bow tie, Truman was always in a hurry. And part of that was he walked fast.

He headed from the main public floor of the Capitol down to the ground floor, downstairs to House Speaker Sam Rayburn’s private hideaway, Room 9, which was known as the “Board of Education.” It was the most exclusive room in the Capitol—entry by Rayburn’s personal invitation only. Most afternoons, members of Congress met here after official business hours to discuss strategy, exchange gossip, and “strike one for liberty,” enjoying a drink, or two. Truman was a regular. And his drink of choice was bourbon and branch water.

The Board of Education was a classic Capitol refuge, some twenty feet in length and filled with big leather chairs, a couch, and a long mahogany desk that doubled as a liquor cabinet. The only dissonant note was an ornate painted ceiling, festooned with birds and animals and plants. Rayburn had a mural with a Texas “lone star” added at one end of the room.

When Truman arrived, Rayburn—“Mr. Sam”—told him that the White House was looking for him. “Steve Early wants you to call him right away,” Rayburn said, referring to President Roosevelt’s longtime secretary. Truman fixed himself a drink, then sat down and dialed the White House switchboard, National 1414.

“This is the VP,” Truman said.

When Early got on the line, he was brief and direct. His voice was tense. He told Truman to get to the White House “as quickly and quietly” as he could, and to come through the main Pennsylvania Avenue entrance. Rayburn was watching Truman, who he always thought was kind of pale. Now he “got a little paler.”

“Jesus Christ and General Jackson,” Truman exclaimed as he hung up the phone, too shocked to even hide it. He tried to remain calm. He told the others in the room he had to go to the White House on “a special call.” He immediately stood up, walked to the door, and put his hand on the knob, then stopped and turned. “Boys, this is in this room. Something must have happened.”

Truman closed the door firmly behind him, then broke into a full run, this time through the now almost-empty Capitol. His footsteps echoed around the marble corridors as he dashed past statues of generals and politicians, past the Senate barbershop, and up the stairs to his vice presidential office. He was out of breath. He grabbed his hat and told his staff he was headed to the White House, but to say nothing about it. He didn’t have time to explain. And anyway, he really didn’t know much more than that.

Outside, it was raining. Truman got into his official black Mercury car and gave instructions to his driver, Tom Harty. Once again, he left his Secret Service detail behind. Between the weather and traffic, it took Truman more than ten minutes to get to the White House. And all that time, he wondered what was going on.

President Roosevelt was supposed to be in Warm Springs, Georgia, where he had spent the past two weeks recovering from exhaustion after a wartime summit in Yalta with British prime minister Winston Churchill and Soviet premier Joseph Stalin.

Maybe FDR had returned to Washington. His old friend Julius Atwood, a retired Episcopal bishop, had been buried in Washington earlier in the day. Had the president attended the ceremony and now wanted to see Truman? But since becoming vice president almost three months ago, he had met privately with Roosevelt only twice. Why now?

At 5:25, Truman’s car turned off Pennsylvania Avenue, passed through the Northwest Gate, and drove up under the North Portico of the White House. At the front door Truman was met by ushers, who took his hat and directed him to the president’s small oak-paneled elevator.

First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt was waiting for him in her private study on the second floor, along with her daughter and son-in-law, Anna and Lieutenant Colonel John Boettiger, and Steve Early. The two women were dressed in black.

The first lady walked up to Truman, put her arm on his shoulder, and said, “Harry, the president is dead.”

Truman was too stunned to speak. He had hurried to the White House to see the president. Now, here he was, suddenly finding out he was the president.

It took him a moment to steady himself. He asked Mrs. Roosevelt, “Is there anything I can do for you?”

“Is there anything we can do for you?” she replied. “For you are the one in trouble now.”

Minutes later, at 5:47, the news bulletin flashed across the country and the world: FDR, the man who led the nation over the past twelve years, through the Depression and Pearl Harbor and now to the verge of victory in Europe in the Second World War, had died of a cerebral hemorrhage at the age of sixty-three.

The White House, mostly deserted with Roosevelt away, suddenly sprang into motion. A meeting of the Cabinet was called for 6:15. Truman directed that congressional leaders be asked to attend. And Harlan Stone, chief justice of the United States, was summoned to the White House to administer the oath of office. There was one more thing Truman needed to do.

At 6:00, he called his wife, Bess, at their modest two-bedroom apartment up Connecticut Avenue. His daughter, Margaret, answered the phone. She hadn’t heard the news yet, and she started kidding around with him as usual. He cut her off and told her to put her mother on the line.

Truman normally shared everything with Bess. But there was no time for that now. He told her President Roosevelt was dead, and he was sending a car for her, Margaret, and his mother-in-law, Madge Wallace, who lived with the family. He wanted them by his side when he took the oath of office.

Truman hung up the phone. He could tell that the conversation had shaken his wife. Ever since he’d accepted the nomination for vice president the previous summer, he knew this was her greatest fear—that FDR would not live out his fourth term. Now he and his family had been thrust into the position she dreaded.

When Truman arrived at the Cabinet Room, he was the first one there. He sat at the big table. Soon the room filled around him. One Roosevelt staffer later described Truman looking “like a little man as he sat waiting in a huge leather chair.” But when all the Cabinet officials who were in Washington arrived, Truman stood. “I want every one of you to stay and carry on,” he told them, “and I want to do everything just the way President Roosevelt wanted it.”

There was a delay as they waited for the chief justice to arrive. And Truman’s family had to get through a large crowd that had gathered outside their apartment building. Staffers also scurried to locate a Bible, finally finding a Gideon in the desk of the White House chief usher.

At 7:09, Truman and Chief Justice Stone stood in front of the mantel at the end of the Cabinet Room, with Truman’s family and top officials forming a semicircle behind them. The chief justice started the oath. “I, Harry Shipp Truman,” he said, assuming Truman’s middle initial S came from his father’s family, when in fact it stood for nothing.

“I, Harry S Truman,” he responded, correcting the chief justice.

That wasn’t the only glitch. After Truman completed the oath, the chief justice told him that he’d held the Bible in his left hand, but placed his right hand on top of it. So they had to do it again, this time with the new president raising his right hand. When the swearing-in was finally over, Truman kissed the Bible, then turned to kiss his wife and daughter.

After the oath, Truman talked briefly to his Cabinet. He repeated his intention to pursue Roosevelt’s agenda. He said he always wanted their candid advice, but made it clear he would make the final decisions. And once he made them, he expected their full support.
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Harry Truman being sworn in as president on April 12, 1945.



As the meeting broke up and the other officials went home for the night, one man stayed behind: Henry Stimson, the secretary of war. He asked to speak to the new president alone “about a most urgent matter.”

At age seventy-seven, Stimson was a legendary figure who had served five presidents. Truman would be his sixth. Sitting with the new president, Stimson said he’d keep it short. The subject was complicated, and he’d provide more detail later. But he wanted Truman to know about “an immense project that was underway” to develop “a new explosive of almost unbelievable destructive power.” The project was so secret—and so potentially dangerous—only a handful of people knew about it. Stimson said he would brief Truman about it fully after the president had a few days to settle in.

That was all. Stimson’s short, mysterious briefing left Truman puzzled. But he was trying to process so much: FDR’s death, the nation’s reaction, his sudden responsibility for leading the war effort in both Europe and the Pacific. Stimson’s “project” was one more job that was now his. And he had no idea what it really amounted to. It was a day, he later said, when “the world fell in on me.”

“I decided the best thing to do was to go home and get as much rest as possible and face the music,” he wrote in his diary.






COUNTDOWN: 113 DAYS


April 15, 1945

Los Alamos, New Mexico

It was supposed to be spring. But fresh snow crunched underfoot as J. Robert Oppenheimer trotted across the top-secret Army compound in the New Mexico mesa. He headed straight across the snow to the makeshift movie theater.

Oppenheimer was the scientific director of the Manhattan Project, America’s massive secret effort to develop an atomic bomb. On any other morning, he’d be juggling a thousand different papers in his office: reading progress reports, writing memos, or returning urgent telephone calls from Washington. While the country outside fought World War II, Oppenheimer and his corps of scientists inside the fenced-off installation focused all their energy and expertise on “the gadget,” a terrifying new weapon of mass destruction.

But not this Sunday morning. Today, he’d gathered the grief-stricken scientists, military men, support staff, and families living in the secret city of Los Alamos for a memorial service for President Roosevelt. He had never delivered a eulogy before.

A brilliant theoretical physicist, Oppenheimer had no trouble telling his peers or graduate students at the nation’s top universities about complicated scientific theories that explained how the universe worked. He was fluent in six languages and well versed in classical literature and Eastern philosophy. He learned Sanskrit just so he could read the Bhagavad Gita, a Hindu devotional poem, in its original language.

Three days had passed since President Roosevelt died at a spa in Georgia. Oppenheimer had spent most of that time struggling to find the right words to memorialize him.

He felt the loss in a deeply personal way. The president guided the United States through some of its darkest hours. He’d been in the White House since 1933, stepping into the job in the depths of the Great Depression. He worked hard to restore the faith and confidence of the American people with ambitious programs designed to turn around the economy.

The nation turned to Roosevelt again when Japanese forces attacked the U.S. naval base at Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, on December 7, 1941. Most of America learned of the strike when a news bulletin interrupted their Sunday afternoon radio programs. “Japan?” People shook their heads in disbelief and adjusted their radios. Was it true? Could it be possible? The following day, Roosevelt addressed Congress and the nation via radio in a speech that would resonate through the years. The attack was “unprovoked” and “dastardly,” he said. December 7, 1941, was “a date which will live in infamy.”

The president made a promise to the American people. “No matter how long it may take us to overcome this premeditated invasion,” he thundered, “the American people in their righteous might will win through to absolute victory.”

Congress declared war on Japan. Four days later, Germany declared war on the United States. The nation mobilized. For many Americans, FDR was the only commander in chief they had ever known. He was elected president four times, and almost three and a half years into World War II, just as the Allies neared victory in Europe—and the war in the Pacific reached a bloody climax—Roosevelt had suddenly died.

Now a gust of uncertainty rattled the ranks of the Manhattan Project. Years earlier, it was Roosevelt who authorized the atomic bomb research and development project, bringing together the brightest scientific minds for an operation he hoped would one day end the war. FDR was instrumental in getting major corporations—DuPont, Standard Oil, Monsanto, and Union Carbide—to design, manufacture, and operate revolutionary new equipment and plants to help build the weapon. Academic and industrial laboratories offered up their best, most creative scientists. It was costly, chancy, and cloaked in total secrecy.

No one knew for sure where, or whether, Harry Truman would take the project. As physicist Philip Morrison recalled, “Now, there was no one we knew at the top.”

The team at Los Alamos turned to Oppenheimer for answers. He was a genius of theoretical physics, but his gifts were not limited to science. His sharp mind could penetrate to the heart of any problem and deliver clear, concise solutions. His colleagues described him as the fastest thinker they’d ever met. At this moment, that clarity was needed more than ever.

Oppenheimer was six feet tall and weighed about 135 pounds, slender to the point of emaciation. But he dressed like a dandy in stylishly cut gray suits, blue shirts and ties, brightly shined shoes, and porkpie hats. With a cigarette dangling from his lower lip, bright blue eyes, and piercing gaze, he attracted women and intimidated men. “Oppie” was a rakish and self-assured character, as comfortable at a cocktail reception as he was in the lecture hall.

The son of a German immigrant who had made a fortune importing textiles in New York City, Oppenheimer was expected to succeed, and he didn’t disappoint. He graduated summa cum laude from Harvard University in just three years. At age twenty-two, he was awarded a PhD in physics from the University of Göttingen in Germany, where he studied under the acclaimed physicist Max Born. Within a few years, Oppenheimer landed prestigious teaching jobs at both the University of California, Berkeley, and the California Institute of Technology in Pasadena. He split his time between schools; one semester at Berkeley, the next in Pasadena. Unlike most professors of that time, he was flamboyant, a bohemian Method actor who lectured with infectious enthusiasm. Without notes, he weaved poetry and literature through lofty mathematical concepts. He made it clear that the most important scientific questions were still unanswered and challenged his students to plumb the mysteries. As one colleague recalled, Oppenheimer brought a “degree of sophistication in physics previously unknown in the United States.”

Students were fascinated and inspired. They followed the professor back and forth from Berkeley to Pasadena, captivated by his eccentricities and zest for life, his appetite for rare steaks, stiff martinis, spicy foods, and cigarettes. An accomplished horseback rider and sailor, he seemed to have a friend around every corner.

But Oppenheimer had a dark side, too. His brilliance could be clouded by melancholy and peevishness. He didn’t tolerate small talk. He’d interrupt friends in midsentence, especially if he thought the subject wasn’t intellectually stimulating. Students who asked mundane questions were subjected to public humiliation. A longtime colleague described Oppenheimer as “dismissive to the point of rudeness.”

In 1942, when Oppenheimer was appointed to lead the Manhattan Project, some of his colleagues questioned his temperament and lack of executive experience, saying he couldn’t “manage a hamburger stand.” He’d have to bridge the gap between innovative, independent academia and the rigid structure of the military.

Oppenheimer charged into the job, which he viewed as the most efficient means of ending the war. He persuaded world-renowned scientists to uproot their families and join him at the secret atomic weapons laboratory in Los Alamos, a remote area surrounded by deep canyons and high peaks at the southernmost tip of the Rocky Mountains. Oppenheimer worked well with military leaders, including his counterpart, General Leslie R. Groves.

Over time, Oppenheimer morphed into a marvelously efficient and charismatic administrator, his friends and colleagues said. Some of the greatest physicists in the world were assembled at Los Alamos, including six Nobel Prize winners. Their egos were immense, but somehow, Oppie made it all work. One colleague said Oppenheimer was very close to being indispensable.

By April 1945, Oppenheimer thoroughly embodied his role as the project’s scientific director. He was just forty years old. He lived with his wife, Kitty, and two small children in a little cabin in a secluded part of Los Alamos. The once-eccentric professor now threw dinner parties for visiting scientists and colleagues at his cabin. The fun started with dry martinis and spilled out onto the front yard as the sun went down.

Los Alamos had grown from a few hundred people to eight thousand scientists and military personnel and their families. The perimeter of the 54,000-acre site—“the Hill”—was surrounded by a ten-foot fence topped with barbed wire. Inside, another fence cordoned off the technical area, where only those with the highest security clearance could go. Oppenheimer’s office was there, as well as the vast laboratories used for bomb research. Like a mayor, Oppenheimer often waved and greeted people as he strolled the treeless streets of Los Alamos. He was always poised and gracious, never at a loss for words.
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A party at Los Alamos in 1944 (from left to right): Dorothy McKibbin, who was responsible for welcoming new recruits at the secret city; J. Robert Oppenheimer, the Manhattan Project’s scientific director; and Victor Weisskopf, a nuclear physicist.



But on April 12, the news of the president’s death was a terrible shock. Thomas O. Jones saw a more subdued Oppenheimer that day, a man grappling with profound loss.

An intelligence officer, Jones had his office in a building connected to Oppenheimer’s by an enclosed walkway. He was getting ready to leave when his telephone rang. Roosevelt was dead, the caller said. Jones didn’t believe it at first.

“Are you sure?” he asked.

The caller repeated the message. Jones sat in stunned silence. He knew he had to tell the others. The base was shut off from the world. There were no outside radio stations or newspapers. The nearest town was Santa Fe, some thirty-five miles away. Los Alamos, according to maps, didn’t exist. So most people here would have to get the bad news over a tech area loudspeaker.

Jones decided to tell Oppenheimer. He bolted from his office to the walkway between the buildings. Halfway across, he glimpsed a familiar figure heading toward him.

Oppenheimer already knew, but couldn’t believe it. “Is it true?” Oppenheimer asked.

“Yes, Oppie,” Jones said softly.

It only confirmed what Oppenheimer expected to hear.

The workers in the tech area learned about the president’s death simultaneously. Everything stopped. Scientists turned to each other. Did you hear that? they asked. Some were shocked into silence. Others cried. They spilled out of the laboratories into the hallways and the steps outside. No one wanted to be alone.

In the walkway, Jones could see that Oppenheimer was visibly shaken, his face pale and grim. They talked about the president, how he’d saved the nation. Oppenheimer praised the good Roosevelt had done, his intelligence and “magnetic personality.”

In reality, Oppenheimer and Roosevelt never talked much. They kept a respectful distance, and mostly communicated through intermediaries. Whenever FDR had the chance, he praised Oppie for the “highly important” work he was overseeing at the Los Alamos Weapons Research and Design Lab.

In a June 29, 1943, letter to Oppenheimer, Roosevelt tried to smooth over the growing antagonism between scientists and General Groves, the project’s hard-driving military leader. Roosevelt had learned that some scientists were starting to snap under the pressure of what they considered impossible deadlines. They resented living under heavy guard. Some doubted the bomb could ever be built and questioned the wisdom of working with such dangerous material.

Roosevelt’s letter acknowledged Oppenheimer as the leader of an elite group of scientists operating under strict security and under “very special restrictions.” The president appealed to Oppenheimer to convince his team the restrictions were necessary. He asked him to convey FDR’s appreciation for their hard work and “personal sacrifices.”

“I am sure we can rely on their continued wholehearted and unselfish labors. Whatever the enemy may be planning, American science will be equal to the challenge,” Roosevelt wrote.

Now, as Oppenheimer prepared for the memorial service, he knew some of his scientists still harbored doubts about the project to develop an atomic bomb. Lately, influential physicists like Leo Szilard were expressing moral opposition to using it in war. Szilard started a petition drive, collecting the names of fellow scientists who felt the same.

But for just this one day, Oppenheimer wanted to put those concerns aside. He stayed up late the night before to finish his eulogy. In the morning he saw the snow blanketing his garden, the streets, the entire town. Morrison, the physicist, remembered the snow as a “gesture of consolation.”

The normally busy streets were quiet. Like most of America, Los Alamos was in mourning. The pavement outside the theater was bare, the snow trampled by the feet of hundreds waiting inside. Jones met Oppie at the door and ushered him in. The boss left behind his trademark porkpie hat.
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President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s letter to J. Robert Oppenheimer, June 29, 1943.



Oppenheimer walked slowly to the stage, and the people, crowded into rows of wooden benches, fell silent. For some who had known Oppie for years, he looked a little older than the brash young physicist who had been such a star in California. Many of the people inside, like Jones and Morrison, wondered if this meant the end of the entire project.

Oppenheimer stood onstage against the backdrop of a lowered American flag and waited a moment. Then, in a voice no louder than a whisper, he began, delivering a eulogy designed to reassure the thousands working at Los Alamos.

“When, three days ago, the world had word of the death of President Roosevelt, many wept who are unaccustomed to tears, many men and women little enough accustomed to prayer, prayed to God. Many of us looked with deep trouble to the future; many of us felt less certain that our works would be a good end; all of us were reminded how precious a thing human greatness is.

“We have been living through years of great evil, and of great terror. Roosevelt has been our president, our commander in chief and, in an old, unperverted sense, our leader. All over the world men have looked to him for guidance, and have seen symbolized in him their hope that the evils of this time would not be repeated; that the terrible sacrifices which have been made, and those that are still to be made, would lead to a world more fit for human habitation. It is in such times of evil that men recognize their helplessness and their profound dependence. One is reminded of medieval days when the death of a good and wise and just king plunged his country into despair and mourning.”

Then Oppenheimer turned to the text that brought him so much comfort over the years.

“In the Hindu scripture, in the Bhagavad Gita, it says ‘Man is a creature whose substance is faith. What his faith is, he is.’ The faith of Roosevelt is one that is shared by millions of men and women in every country of the world. For this reason it is possible to maintain the hope, for this reason it is right that we should dedicate ourselves to the hope that his good works will not have ended with his death.”

Afterward, the scientists and their families stood, heads bowed and silent, too saddened to talk.

While it was unclear how Truman would handle the Manhattan Project, Oppenheimer tried to remain optimistic. After the service, he turned to a friend, David Hawkins, a physicist.

“Roosevelt was a great architect,” Oppenheimer said. “Perhaps Truman will be a good carpenter.”

But Oppenheimer was not sure. He only knew that after spending years of intense research and billions in taxpayer dollars, the scientists of Los Alamos had better deliver the goods, and soon.






COUNTDOWN: 105 DAYS


April 23, 1945

Wendover, Utah

Colonel Paul Tibbets Jr. grimaced and held the telephone handset away from his ear while a Salt Lake City policeman bellowed down the line. Over the weekend, some of the colonel’s airmen had blown into the city like cowboys at the end of a cattle drive, and the policeman rattled off a long list of trouble. Speeding, running red lights, whooping it up at the Hotel Utah with whiskey and wild women, brawling with the local roughnecks.

Tibbets sighed. He and his men had been bottled up at this desert airstrip for way too long. It was time for the 509th Composite Group to leave Wendover Airfield and start making some real trouble for real enemies.

He told the policeman it wouldn’t be long before they were out of his hair and out of town. Jailing his highly trained men over a weekend’s mischief would solve nothing, and it would waste the nation’s investment.

The policeman had to agree. After a few more soothing words, Tibbets hung up the phone.

For months, the colonel had driven his men relentlessly. They didn’t know the details. His men only knew they had been training for a secret bombing mission that could end the war. Now they were ready, but what about the bomb? That was his only question. He’d been back and forth to Los Alamos, and was told that the scientists were still “tinkering” with it. They were more concerned with producing the perfect weapon, instead of being satisfied with the one they had. It seemed they were forever improving the design, running more tests, making endless changes before they’d let Tibbets actually drop the damn thing. And of course, there were still questions about whether the weapon would work.

Tibbets wasn’t only dealing with the cops, or the scientists at Los Alamos. He was running a complex secret military operation of his own here in Utah, involving hundreds of pilots, navigators, bombardiers, and support personnel. Only he and a handful of people knew what it was all about. And every problem in the 509th ended up on his desk.

His wife, Lucy, and two young children lived in a little house near the airfield, but he rarely spent time there. He was so consumed with the mission that playing with his kids and talking into the night with his wife had become sweet memories. That diligence was one reason why his commanders picked him for the job. He was organized, tough, and had joined the Army Air Corps years before the war started. But most important, he was “the best damn pilot” in the Army, as one general put it. His cockpit expertise was vital to the dangerous assignment. The pilot who ultimately flew the mission would not only have to drop the atomic bomb accurately. He’d then need to execute perfect turns and dives to avoid the bomb’s blast. Otherwise, the aftershocks could blow the plane to pieces.

If anyone could do it, Tibbets could. He was a confident, handsome guy with a slight cleft in his chin. But Tibbets was no Hollywood character. He was a seasoned bomber pilot who thrived under pressure. Tibbets shepherded generals Dwight Eisenhower and Mark Clark on missions in North Africa in 1942 and 1943. Once, while he was flying Clark to Algiers, he landed flawlessly while under fire from antiaircraft shells and machine guns.

Tibbets flew dozens of combat bombing missions over North Africa and Germany, then was deployed to the United States to take charge of the B-29 Superfortress flight-testing program. The B-29 was designed by Boeing to operate faster, at higher altitudes, and with heavier bomb loads than its predecessor, the B-17 Flying Fortress. The B-29 was able to fly more than 3,000 miles—just what the U.S. military needed as it moved closer to Japan. But the new bomber killed its first test pilot and was thought by some to be too dangerous to fly.

Tibbets proved fearless, and he expected the same from his fellow pilots. A decisive commander, Tibbets was a perfectionist, which irritated some of his colleagues. But Tibbets didn’t care. He was in charge, so they were doing things his way—“the right way.”

He was born in Quincy, Illinois, the son of a former World War I infantry captain who afterward ran a wholesale candy business. That would lead, indirectly, to Paul’s passion. He took his first flight in a biplane at age twelve, part of a promotion for the new Baby Ruth candy bar. His father was the area distributor for the product, and a local pilot was hired to drop Baby Ruths over a large gathering of people.

When the boy heard about the stunt, he begged the pilot to let him tag along. The pilot didn’t say yes right away; he didn’t want anything to happen to the boss’s son. Once permission was granted, the pilot put the boy to work helping a corps of warehouse workers attach a tiny paper parachute to each candy bar, so they would fall gently to the ground.

When the plane was loaded with candy, Tibbets jumped in the cockpit and strapped himself in next to the pilot. The engine roared to life, the pilot pushed the throttle forward, and soon the airplane lifted free. With the wind in his face, Tibbets couldn’t help grinning. It didn’t take long for them to reach a race track, where the pilot circled low, letting the crowd get a good look at the biplane. As the pilot steered, Tibbets tossed candy bars overboard to the people below. For years after, Tibbets joked it was his first bombing mission. From the moment the plane was in the air, he was hooked. As he would later tell his friends, “Nothing else would satisfy me, once I was given an exhilarating sample of the life of an airman.”

But his father wanted him to become a doctor. Tibbets attended the Western Military Academy in North Alton, Illinois, and in 1933 he enrolled at the University of Florida. After class, he’d often stop at Gainesville Airport to look at the planes. One day he decided it was time to learn how to fly. He took lessons, seven dollars for thirty minutes. He was a natural. He quickly outgrew his instructor.

After his sophomore year, Tibbets transferred to the University of Cincinnati to complete his pre-med studies. He lived with his father’s friend, Dr. Alfred Harry Crum, a surgeon. Tibbets spent most of his weekends working as an orderly at the doctor’s hospital, but in his spare time, he sneaked away to Lunken Airport to hang around with the pilots.

Dr. Crum noticed young Tibbets’s interest in flying and encouraged him to follow his dream. Perhaps he could make a career of commercial aviation. But Tibbets knew his father wouldn’t approve.

Then, toward the end of 1936, everything became clear. An ad in a Popular Mechanics magazine almost shouted out to him, “Do you want to learn to fly?” Tibbets already knew how, but it was the next line that really captured his attention: the Army Air Corps was looking for pilots. Tibbets, who was now twenty-one, sent an application in the next day’s mail, and just before he headed home for the holidays, the letter came: Tibbets was accepted in the program. He would become a flying cadet.

Now he had to tell his parents he was dropping out of college to join the military. His father didn’t take it well. “I’ve sent you through school,” he said. “Bought you automobiles, given you money to run around with the girls, but from here on, you’re on your own. If you want to go kill yourself, go ahead, I don’t give a damn.”

His mother, Enola Tibbets, sat quietly through her husband’s rant. When he stopped to catch his breath, she let silence settle over the room before she spoke.

“Paul, if you want to go fly airplanes, you’re going to be all right,” she said in almost a whisper. Tibbets felt reassured. He was making the right decision. Nothing bad would happen to him.

Tibbets carried those words with him every time he got into a jam during combat. The day he left for basic training in February 1937 his mother told him: “Son, someday we’re going to be really proud of you.” And so far, in his eight years in the military, he had done everything right.
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Colonel Paul W. Tibbets.



After basic flight training at Randolph Field in San Antonio, Texas, he was assigned to Fort Benning, Georgia. That’s where he met Lucy Wingate, a petite southern belle. They fell in love and married in 1938.

Tibbets rose quickly through the ranks of the Air Corps, which was renamed the U.S. Army Air Forces in 1941. Shortly after his deployment to Europe in June 1942, he was named commanding officer of an entire squadron of the 97th Bombardment Group.

Tibbets led the first American daylight heavy bomber mission over occupied France in August 1942. All told, Tibbets piloted twenty-five combat missions in the B-17 Flying Fortress plane he named the Red Gremlin.

He flew Major General Clark from London to Gibraltar in preparation for Operation Torch, the Allied invasion of North Africa. A few weeks later, Tibbets flew Lieutenant General Eisenhower, the supreme Allied commander, to Gibraltar.

Tibbets’s skills were praised by his commander, Major General Jimmy Doolittle, who was already a military legend. He had led a daring bombing raid over Tokyo in 1942, the first American attack on the Japanese mainland. The mission was later depicted in the film Thirty Seconds Over Tokyo. Doolittle was played by actor Spencer Tracy.

So when Tibbets was called into Doolittle’s office in February 1943, he thought he’d likely be ferrying another high-ranking general somewhere. But Doolittle told him instead about a request from General Henry “Hap” Arnold, the Air Forces chief of staff. “General Arnold wants my best field-grade officer with the most experience in B-17s to come back to the United States,” Doolittle said. “They’re building an airplane called the B-29, and they’re having a lot of trouble with it. It’s yours.”

A month later, Tibbets was stateside, doing flight test work with engineers at the Boeing factory. He went to Alamogordo, New Mexico, to help a professor calculate the B-29’s vulnerability to fighter attack. Tibbets’s job was testing out the theories in simulated combat runs. The B-29 assigned for the tests was fully equipped with weapons and armor plating, but when Tibbets arrived to work, he learned his plane was out of commission for at least ten days. He decided to try flying a “skeleton” B-29, a plane without any guns or armament. With the aircraft seven thousand pounds lighter, Tibbets was amazed at how easily it handled and how high it could climb. He filed that data in the back of his head.

The Army opened a B-29 training school in Grand Island, Nebraska, in March 1944, with Tibbets as director of operations. It made sense. He had spent more flying time in the Superfortress than any other pilot. The assignment didn’t last long. In September, Tibbets was summoned to a secret meeting at the U.S. Army Second Air Force headquarters in Colorado Springs.

Tibbets knew nothing about the meeting, not even who would be there. He settled his nerves and stepped into the conference room. There were three people inside: Colonel John Lansdale, a U.S. Army intelligence officer; Navy captain William “Deak” Parsons, an “explosives expert”; and Professor Norman Ramsey, a Harvard physicist.

Lansdale said he wanted to ask Tibbets a few questions about his military career. But they quickly crossed into Tibbets’s civilian life. Some questions were highly personal. This is an interrogation, Tibbets thought. Eventually, Lansdale said he had one last query: “Have you ever been arrested?”

Tibbets took a deep breath. Yes, he said. When he was a nineteen-year-old college student “a nosy policeman with a flashlight” caught Tibbets and a girl “during a love-making episode” in the backseat of his parked car in North Miami Beach, Florida. The charges were later dropped, he said. Everyone in the room already knew about his indiscretion. They had done their background research. They just wanted to see if Tibbets would come clean. When he did, they knew they had the right man. Then General Uzal G. Ent, commander of the Second Air Force, took over the conversation—and he got right to the point.

He told Tibbets about the Manhattan Project, a plan for a bomb so powerful it would explode with the force of “twenty thousand tons of conventional high explosive.” Tibbets had been chosen to develop a method to deliver the atomic bomb over the skies of Germany or Japan. His mission was code-named “Operation Silverplate.” Ent warned Tibbets he would be court-martialed if he spoke of it to anyone.

Tibbets could have anything he needed, they told him, from men to supplies. If anyone gave him trouble, all he had to do was say the request was for Operation Silverplate. He had a blank check.

Tibbets chose Wendover Airfield, a remote base along the Utah–Nevada state line, for the training program. He started assembling the right men for his new group. He combed his memory for outstanding members of flight crews who served with him in Europe and North Africa, as well as in the B-29 training program.

At the top of his list were Captain Theodore “Dutch” Van Kirk, a navigator, and Major Thomas Ferebee, a bombardier, his crewmates in the old Red Gremlin days. Off duty, Van Kirk and Ferebee, both young and single, had loved to drink, gamble, and carouse their way around London. Every now and then, Tibbets joined in.

Ferebee was the first to arrive at Wendover, and Van Kirk came soon after. On a mission, the bombardier was responsible for hitting enemy targets. For Tibbets, no one did it better than Ferebee. From a small town in North Carolina, Ferebee was tall and handsome, a former high school baseball star who got a tryout with the Boston Red Sox.
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    Captain Theodore J. Van Kirk, Colonel Paul Tibbets, and Major Thomas Ferebee standing in front of a B-29 Superfortress.



With his mustache, smooth southern drawl, and his penchant for gambling and womanizing, he was like the fictional character Rhett Butler from Gone with the Wind.

Unlike Ferebee, Van Kirk had just settled down. The boyish-looking airman married a girl from his hometown in Northumberland, Pennsylvania. At twenty-four, Van Kirk was a little quieter than Ferebee, but both were perfectionists—like their commander. The trio worked together to assemble Tibbets’s staffing wish list. That included Jacob Beser, a wiry, sarcastic Jewish kid from Baltimore who had been an engineering major at Johns Hopkins University.

Beser jumped at the opportunity. When Germany invaded Poland in September 1939, igniting World War II, Beser had lobbied his parents to let him join the Royal Air Force. He hated the Nazis. He knew his relatives in France and Germany were natural targets for Hitler’s rabid anti-Semitism. His parents were angry, too, but they insisted he complete his degree. When the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor, Beser had had enough. He enlisted in the Army Air Forces the next day.

But more than three years later, Beser still hadn’t seen any action. After basic training, he was sent to Harvard to learn about radar. The technology was new and growing in importance, and he became one of the service’s highest-rated radar specialists.

Beser kept asking to serve in a combat unit, to “avenge his relatives in Europe,” but he was turned down every time. He was stuck teaching radar to recruits. He had just put in another request when Tibbets picked him for his team.

Tibbets did the same with Staff Sergeant George “Bob” Caron, a tail gunner. When Caron blew into Wendover—a dusty expanse of desert about 125 miles west of Salt Lake City—his uniform was dirty and his collar unbuttoned, violations of military rules. As an MP lit into him, Caron heard a familiar voice.

“Is that you, Bob?”

He turned, and Tibbets shook his hand. Caron grinned and the MP stood down. The commander took Caron to his office and got right down to business.

“Bob, I need a man who knows what he’s doing and can teach others to do a similar job. And keep their mouths shut,” Tibbets said.

“Colonel, I won’t even mention I’m here,” Caron said.

Another choice was Captain Robert A. Lewis, a cocky, Brooklyn-born aviator. In the B-29 program, Tibbets became a mentor to Lewis. If Tibbets was the Joe DiMaggio of pilots, then Lewis was Ted Williams. Lewis believed he was the best pilot in the military, and a lot of other folks thought so, too.

By the time Tibbets recruited enough men to make up a dozen crews, he had assembled some of the top pilots, navigators, and flight engineers in the U.S. military. For Tibbets, loyalty and secrecy were the most important qualities. He tolerated raucous behavior among his men so long as he knew they would not tell anyone what they were doing.

He summed it all up for them at his first briefing with the 509th in September 1944: “You don’t discuss with anyone where you are, who you are, what you’re doing. With your wife, your mother, your sister, your girlfriend or anything.”

And to show how serious he was, the few men who spoke too freely were suddenly transferred to an air base in Alaska.

Tibbets’s crews worked for months, studying, discussing, practicing. They worked hard and played hard, looking for ways to fill their time during the long wait to deployment. Now spring was here, and things were getting squirrely in Wendover. It was time to move on.

In the meantime, commanders had been busy preparing a new home for the 509th on the tiny, strategic Pacific island of Tinian, 1,600 miles south of Tokyo. Captured by U.S. forces in July 1944, Tinian had become a key air base, easy to supply by sea and perfect for launching B-29 air attacks against Japanese cities.

Tibbets was done with waiting around. He picked up the phone and dialed the Air Forces command headquarters in Washington. He invoked the name Silverplate. The 509th was ready to roll, he said. And so the process began. He knew it would take a few weeks for everyone to get there.

They’d start moving west on April 26, via the Western Pacific Railroad, eventually ending up in Seattle, where most of the ground crews would take a ship to Tinian. The B-29 crews would fly out later.

Tibbets set the plan in motion. It didn’t take long for the phone to ring—an aide to General Groves said Tibbets must come to Washington for an urgent meeting. The general was unhappy, the aide said. He wouldn’t give details. Tibbets went.

He wasn’t even through the office door before Groves lit into him. Who the hell did the colonel think he was, ordering the 509th overseas? Groves was the commander overseeing the project, wasn’t that clear? This was tantamount to insubordination.

Tibbets stood quietly during Groves’s profanity-filled rant. He knew why the general was chewing him out. Groves wanted to put him in his place. Tibbets should have cleared the move with him first. But when Groves finished, he did something that surprised Tibbets. He broke into a wide grin and slapped Tibbets on the shoulder. “Dammit, you’ve got us moving,” he said. “Now they can’t stop us.”

Tibbets only hoped the general was right. He was sick of waiting around while the rest of the world was fighting.






COUNTDOWN: 104 DAYS


April 24, 1945

Okinawa, Japan

High up on the deck of a U.S. Navy destroyer, Commander Draper Kauffman peered through binoculars at the sea, the island, and the sky beyond. Closer in, zipping toward him, was a thirty-foot plywood boat, an oddly humble craft for an elite U.S. Underwater Demolition Team. The “frogmen” were returning from another reconnaissance mission.

The air shivered and boomed with artillery fire as shells streaked toward Okinawa and exploded in great clouds of dust.

Something else was moving out there. Kauffman shifted his gaze from sea to sky and saw what looked like a flock of birds on the horizon. Waves of Japanese planes flowed toward the U.S. fleet.

“Kamikazes,” he muttered.

Kauffman had been in combat before. He’d seen some of the deadliest U.S. military action in the war in the Pacific: Saipan, Guam, Iwo Jima. He’d plunged into the ocean alongside his frogmen, blowing up underwater obstacles set to kill American troops landing on remote, Japanese-held islands.

They’d been here at Okinawa for almost a month, fighting endlessly. Kauffman had come to a stark conclusion: the earlier campaigns were just a warm-up for this one. Okinawa was a slog, a son of a bitch.

Covered in dense foliage, hills, and trees and honeycombed with caves and bunkers, Okinawa bristled with tens of thousands of Japanese determined to fight to the death. The enemy, even raw conscripts, did not believe in surrender.

How long would it take the Allies to overrun this godforsaken place? And once that was achieved, Kauffman didn’t expect a victory celebration. Not anytime soon.

The next step after Okinawa was the invasion of Japan itself. No date had been set, but military leaders back home were already talking about it in the newspapers, preparing the public for the inevitable horror and loss of life.

A week earlier, General Joseph Stilwell, commander of U.S. forces in China, Burma, and India, said despite all the Japanese deaths in the Pacific, the “enemy is stronger than when the war started,” and a “desperate struggle” awaited U.S. troops.

More Americans were being drafted and trained for the invasion. A month before he died, FDR declared the mobilization of the “largest armed force” in U.S. history would be completed by the end of June. Older men were being drafted, and “previously occupation-deferred” draftees—academics and farmers, monks and veterans—were being called up to replace massive U.S. casualties.

Kauffman loved the Navy and was committed to serving his nation. He was a problem solver, an optimist. But that day on the deck of the USS Gilmer, watching the kamikaze suicide pilots roll in, he had to dig deep to remain positive.

He headed down to meet the frogmen.

Almost drowned out by the din of exploding shells and pounding machine-gun fire, Kauffman greeted his men with smiles as they boarded the destroyer. “Great job!” he shouted. “Wish I could’ve been out having a swim, instead of stuck on the bridge.” His men knew he meant it. He was a hands-on officer. He’d been right alongside them on missions in other hot spots.

Kauffman led by example, something he learned from his father, also a longtime Navy officer. The old man, James Kauffman, was an admiral now. Draper was determined to follow his path.

Even though he was an admiral’s son, it hadn’t been an easy journey. Kauffman was accepted to the U.S. Naval Academy, but was denied an officer’s commission when he graduated in 1933, because of his poor eyesight. Instead, he worked for a steamship company in New York. In early 1940, he quit his job and joined the American Volunteer Motor Ambulance Corps in France. The move shocked his family. They worried about his safety. Europe had been engulfed in war since Germany invaded Poland in September 1939. And by the spring of 1940, France and England were desperately trying to stop the Nazi blitzkrieg. Kauffman just wanted to do his part. He explained his decision in a letter home: “I think there are times when things are worth fighting for, even if it’s not in your best self-interest at the moment.” But shortly after he arrived in France, Kauffman was captured by the Germans. A few weeks later, France fell.

Kauffman was an American. So the Germans decided to release him. But they gave him a warning: go home. If they caught him again, he wouldn’t be so lucky. Kauffman crossed the Spanish border and made his way to England, where waves of Luftwaffe planes were dropping bombs every night on London. Buildings crumbled; fires consumed entire neighborhoods. Great Britain was the only country still standing against Hitler. He listened with thousands of Britons as Prime Minister Winston Churchill delivered passionate radio speeches, giving his people hope in a time of despair.

Draper Kauffman wasn’t about to go home. He enlisted in the Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve and learned how to disable bombs. He got so good at it that he became a chief ordnance disposal officer. In November 1941, Admiral Chester Nimitz asked Kauffman to start a bomb disposal school for the U.S. Navy. Almost a decade after graduating from the Naval Academy, Kauffman finally got his commission.

Kauffman heard about the attack on Pearl Harbor just as he was choosing recruits for the bomb disposal school. He had to hurry the process. He quickly began staffing, organizing, and running the school outside Washington, D.C. It was a hectic time. He spent long hours in offices and classrooms. In off hours, he spent time with Peggy Tuckerman, his little sister’s best friend. He’d known her for years, so it only made sense for them to get married before he moved his training group to a base in Fort Pierce, Florida, on the Atlantic Ocean. There his men could train in the water.
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Draper Kauffman after he received a commission from the U.S. Navy in November 1941 to set up a bomb disposal school. He had been a bomb disposal officer in Great Britain in 1940 and 1941.



That’s where the Underwater Demolition Teams were born. Kauffman first taught them to disable bombs and mines on land, then he moved them into the sea. This was the Navy, after all, and underwater mines and man-made obstacles were destroying ships and landing crafts transporting troops into combat.

Kauffman’s expertise caught the attention of Admiral Richmond Turner, commander of amphibious forces in the Pacific. Assaults from the sea had become a critical part of U.S. military strategy in the war against Japan. American commanders devised an “island hopping” strategy, capturing and fortifying key islands, one after another, until Japan itself came within range of American bombers. The Americans bypassed strongly held islands and struck the enemy’s weak points.

They encountered problems along the way. Even though invasions were planned down to the last detail, amphibious warfare was risky. After a long bombardment by battleships and aircraft carriers, landing crafts, some transporting troops, others carrying equipment, moved in from a few thousand yards offshore in carefully timed waves to designated points on the beach. As they neared the shore, especially in shallow water, the crafts not only had to pass through enemy fire, they had to navigate natural and man-made obstacles lurking beneath the surface: reefs, wooden stakes, mines, and bombs.

Early amphibious operations cost thousands of American lives, as officers could only guess how deep the water was or whether the shallows were laced with obstructions. U.S. commanders learned they needed better reconnaissance. Somehow they had to scope out the underwater terrain between the line of departure and the beach so obstacles could be removed or avoided.

That’s where Kauffman’s elite underwater bomb squad came into play.

Frogman recruits had to undergo a grueling training program, six weeks of physical challenges. “Hell Week,” at the very start, was the worst, seven days of nonstop physical training with only a few breaks for sleep and food. And their uniforms were barely clothes at all. On missions, the frogmen looked like they were headed to a swim meet instead of a war zone. They wore swim trunks, goggles, and fins to protect their feet against poisonous coral. Their limbs were strapped with knives, demolition kits, fuses, and marking slates with waterproof pencils to create detailed maps. They slicked their bodies with aluminum-based greasepaint tinted bluish-gray to camouflage and protect them from the cold water. “To be a frog, we had to be physically, mentally, and emotionally fit or we did not survive the course,” recalled Electrician’s Mate Harold Ledien. “We became naked warriors.”

Each of their wooden landing craft carried an inflatable rubber boat to move supplies to shore and scoop up swimmers after the mission. By the time they deployed to Okinawa, the teams had already proved their worth. Invasion commanders came to depend on them.

Kauffman directed twelve teams at Okinawa, the largest of the Ryukyu Islands, which included Kerama Retto and Ie Shima. Each team had one hundred men and a small staff. They did a world of work before the battle commenced. A poor, densely populated farming community, Okinawa was targeted for one reason: its proximity to the enemy. It was only 350 miles from the southernmost Japanese home island, Kyushu. Simply put, it was the perfect spot to launch an invasion of Japan.

Kauffman’s team prepared the way.

The frogmen blasted shipping channels through coral reefs. At one point, they used 16 tons of explosives to create a 50-foot-wide, 300-foot-long channel to allow wheeled vehicles to reach beachhead at low tide. The explosion was so massive, men on some of the U.S. ships thought they were under attack.

At another landing site, a frog team discovered 3,100 pointed wooden stakes laced with barbed wire and mines, driven into the coral floor six feet underwater. While U.S. gunboats fired over their heads to distract the enemy, Kauffman’s men attached explosives to the stakes and blew them all up at once.

Another reconnaissance mission led to the discovery of 260 small vessels hidden inside a cave. These were “suicide boats,” meant to be loaded with explosives and driven by Japanese soldiers into American ships, like waterborne kamikazes. Kauffman ordered his men to blow them up.

Besides the demolition work, Kauffman’s men marked the water depths at reefs as well as the best places to land on the beach. Okinawa was sixty miles long and ten miles at its widest and had ten thousand yards of beach. Every time the Army or Marines plotted a landing on a new spot, they called in Kauffman.

Finally, on April 1, 180,000 Army and Marine troops descended on Okinawa.

Kauffman’s frogmen were essential during the landing on Ie Shima on April 16. Everything went as planned for his men, but every time Kauffman heard the name of the island, he couldn’t help thinking about his friend Ernie.

Ernie Pyle, a legendary war correspondent, was killed by a sniper on April 18 on Ie Shima. Pyle had slogged out the war in Europe alongside the GIs and had only recently arrived in the Pacific. Pyle wanted to write a feature story on Kauffman’s teams. They were “half fish and half nuts,” Pyle said, but Kauffman asked him to hold the story; the Japanese read newspapers, too. His frogmen might become easy prey in the open water if Japanese gunners knew to watch for them.

“Let me put it this way,” Kauffman explained to Pyle. “I’m probably like a baseball manager who’s won ten games wearing the same dirty shirt, and he’s not going to take that shirt off no matter how much it smells, until he loses.”

Pyle shook his head. “That’s as poor a reason for the suppression of the press in the United States as I’ve ever heard.”

Kauffman knew why Pyle wanted to write a story about his frogmen. It wasn’t that the reporter was looking for a big scoop. Pyle wanted to make sure the frogmen got the “credit with the American people that they deserved.”

News of Pyle’s death left Kauffman and many of his men shaken. First FDR, then Ernie, not to mention the daily casualties that surrounded them.

Kauffman made sure his team members were back on board the destroyer. He ordered them below for chow, then some rest. The fighting was picking up and they had more recon missions scheduled. More enemy fire. More kamikazes. Years of war, fore and aft. They were surrounded by death. There was no end in sight.

Kauffman knew nothing of Los Alamos or the powerful bomb being developed there. He only knew the Japanese would fight to the last man, and after Okinawa, there was only one target left. The biggest, bloodiest one of all.

If they thought Okinawa was hell, they were in for much worse.






COUNTDOWN: 103 DAYS


April 25, 1945

Washington, D.C.

Harry Truman had now been president for just twelve full days. But he was already putting his mark on the office. FDR used to hold Cabinet meetings that dragged on and on, as he regaled his team with long stories. Truman was all business, moving from one item to the next, quickly disposing of them.

“Everything he said was decisive,” noted one Cabinet member, Henry Wallace, who preceded Truman as vice president and stayed on as Roosevelt’s commerce secretary. Then he added a backhanded compliment: “It almost seemed as though he was eager to decide in advance of thinking.”

But this meeting was different. And the decision that would flow from it would be the toughest Truman—or any president—would ever have to make. The day before, Truman received a message from Secretary of War Stimson, who wrote: “I think it is very important that I should have a talk with you as soon as possible on a highly secret matter.” Stimson reminded him of the brief conversation they had the night he was sworn in as president. Now he wanted to brief Truman in depth. “I think you ought to know about it without much further delay.”

At the bottom of the message, Truman directed his staff: “Put on list tomorrow, Wed. 25. HST.”

Less than a year before, it was almost unthinkable Truman would ever be vice president, much less succeed Franklin Delano Roosevelt as commander in chief. As FDR prepared to run for a fourth term in the summer of 1944, Democratic Party leaders were looking to push Vice President Henry Wallace off the ticket. He was too intellectual, too far to the left. And with Roosevelt’s health declining, they worried he might end up serving out FDR’s term as president. But who should replace Wallace? In spite of his poor health, Roosevelt never imagined anyone else leading the country.

While the president let the issue drift, party leaders argued about possible candidates. There was James Byrnes, the former senator and then Supreme Court justice, whom Roosevelt persuaded to leave the Court to run the Office of War Mobilization. Truman had agreed to give a speech at the Democratic convention nominating Byrnes for vice president. Senate majority leader Alben Barkley was also running. And Wallace thought he still had the job. A Gallup poll in July 1944 found only 2 percent of voters backed Truman.

The junior senator from Missouri was likable—a smart, hardworking, gregarious sort. At five feet nine inches tall, Truman was decisive, blunt, used salty language, and thrived on the rough and tumble of politics. His career had been, to put it charitably, circuitous. Farmer, bank teller, salesman, haberdasher. (That last business ended up saddling him with serious debt.) As a young man, he was an Army artillery officer and a decorated combat veteran of World War I.

In 1922, Truman was broke and out of work. But he had served in the Army with a fellow named Jim Pendergast. And Jim’s uncle was Kansas City political boss Tom Pendergast, who needed someone to run for Jackson County judge, essentially a county commissioner.
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THE WHITE HOUSE
WASHINGTON

June 29, 1%)
"",/

My dear Dr. Oprenheiser:

1 have recently reviewed with Dr. Push the highly
umrv{m. wd necret program of research, develormont and
mamifacture with which you are femiliar. T was very glad
to hear of the excellent work which {s being done in &
nusber of places in this country under the isnediate miper-
viston of Generel L. K. Groves end the general direction
of the Comaittes of which Pr, Bush is Chafrmen, The muc-
cesfful solution of the protlem is of the utaost iuportarce
10 We rational safety, and T am conflient that the work
will be complated in an short a tine as possible an the
remlt of the wholehearted cooperation of all concerned.

1 na writing to you an the leader of one groip
which {3 to play a vitul role in the months ahead. T vnow
that you and your colleagues are working on a hazardasn
natter under urumual circumstances. The fact that the out-
come of your labors is of muich greet aignificarce to the
nation requires that this rrogren be even nore drastically
guarded than other highly secrvt war develotmertt, 1 have
therefore given directions that every precaution Le taken®
to insure the security of your project and feal mire that
those in charge will mee that thene orders are carried out.
You-are fully axare of the reanons why your omn endeavors
and Lhose of your associstes miat be circumscribed by very
spectal restrictions. Meverthelnns, T wish you would expresn
10 the solontists sasembled with you ry deep appreciation
of their willingness o undertake the tasks which lie bafore
thea in mpite of the cargers wnd the personal secrifices.

1 am mire we cen rely on their continued wholehearted and
unselfish labars, whataver tie snesy mey be planning,
Anerican sclence will be equal to the challenge. Kith thls
thought tn nind, [ send this note of confidence and apprecia-
tlon. .
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